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H. HISTORICAL AND ARCHAECOLOGICAL SENSITIVITY

1. EXISTING CONDITIONS
1.1 INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Phase 1A Sensitivity Study is to document  the
potential prehistoric and historic sensitivity of the Horeywell Farms
Dairy Development Project in Jamaica, Borough of Queens, New York City
through  the review of existing archival, cartographic ard published
references. In order to provide a context for evaluating any identified
resouyres within the parcel itself, this survey shall include a
synthesis  of published and urpublished prehistoric and historic
resouyces in the immediate locality surroundina the project area.

The projest area consists of four parcels located along bath sides of
Liberty Avernte to the east of 150th Street and west of 15S9th Street,
See Figure 1 for the location of the project area and Plates 1-8  for
views of its present cordition.

The existing conditions section of this study is organized in the
followirg manmer: first, the oeography and physical settima of the
project area is described, secord, a section follows on the prehistoric
sensitivity of the area; and third, a review of the historic sensitivity
of the area.

1.2 GECGRAPHY AND PHYSICAL SETTING

The woereral region including the project area lies in the Atlantic
Coastal Lowland Physiographic Province, which is found in New York State
only on Long Island and Staten Island ( Thompson 1944:34),  The project
area  lies within the gently sloping outwash plain south of the terminal
movaine ( Thompson 1946:34, 43).

The project area lies on a moderate slope approximately thirty feet
above sea level.  The principal investigator visited the preoject area
during October of 1988. A pedestrian survey was used to  inspect the
entire project area. The majority of the parcel is covered with
automchile  Jjunkyards and vacant lots. Several busiresses exist alorg
both sides of Liberty Averue, most of which supply parts or services for
automobiles andsor trucks.  The present dairy facility is within the
industrial park bordering the project area to the south and east.
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Figure 1: Location of the project area of U.$5.6.5. 7.5 minute
' series, Jamaica Quadrangle.



1.3 PREHISTORIC SENSITIVITY

Az part aof the project evaluation process, this sersitivity study has
surveyad published and urpublished yesources in the archives of New York
City, the Files of the New York State Museum Division of Historical and
danthropological  Services, the Ressarch Branch of the New York Public
Library, the New York State Historic Preservation Office (N.Y.S.H.FP.0.),
the Hiztorie Preservation Field Services Bureau, as well as resources on
file at Greenbouse Consultants.

Table 1 presents the results of our search for prehistoric sites in the
vicinity of the Honeywell Dairy project area. Included in the table are
twe sites located two miles or less from the project area. Tie
locations of these sites are presented on Figure 2 with letter e
‘identifiers which correspond to those in Table 1. The New York State
Museum  corcucted a complete search of their files for sites within  two
milez 0of the project area,. Information on sites within two miles of the
prject  area was also obtaired From documents on file at  Greenbouse
Coreultants.

Both of these two prehistoric csites are known primarily through the work
of arthur £, Parker, the former New York State Archaeologist, during the
first «parter of this century. These are descoribted as traces . of
oocupation and a village., The village site is associated with the
name  Joameco  ad  is situated along the stream feeding Raisley's Pond
aproximately 1.1 miles southeast of the project area. Unfortumately
detailed descriptions of artifacts recovered from these sites are oup-
plied, =0 o assesoments of date ranges can be made (Parker 1922). The
cite known as Jameco is described as a village and therefore may date to
the Woodlared Period.  Thigs inference is based zolely on the gereral fact
that wvillages were mot a common occupation pattern of the precedirg
Awchaic and Paleo-Indian Periods.

Documentary evidence from the seventeenth century alsn indicate=  that
this region was ukilized by the aboriginal population.  Jamaica MAverue
which lies 0.4 miles to tte rorth of the project area was formerly
calledd the King’s Highway. It was evidently an old Indian path krown as
Mechawanienk,  This word is derived from the Delaware and translates az
"ol path or trail” (Grumet 1281:33). The name Jamaica is also devived
from  the Delaware and related Alonmkian terms for beaver.,  This is mt
Lier  zaame a2 the derivation of the Caribbean Izland alzo called  Jamaica
which comes from the Carib languacge and means “land of wood and waler ™
The [elaware term was evidently only a place—name refererce ard mot the
name of 3 group. Beauchamp states that it was a Delaware place—rmame
referring to “ye bever-pond commonly called Jemeco® (Beauchamp 1907:177;
Grumzt 1921:16). According to Kelley, the Indians that lived at this
place were "located along the banks of the stream conrecting Beaver Pord
with Jamaica Bay" (Kelley 1908:35). Although there is considerable
evicdence that the group that ooccupied Jamaica was Delaware speaking,
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Figure 2: Prehistoric sites in the vicinity of the project area.



there are several possible affiliations including the Canarsee, the
Massapeoia ardd the Rockaway . It appears that their most likely affilia-
tion would have been with the Massapequa (Grumet 1981:5-7, 29-31, 44—
49).

In terms of potential prehistoric sersitivity, the project impact area
was evaluated from two points of view:

1) the proximity of known prehistoric sites in or near the pro-
Ject area; and .

2) the preserce of fresh water drainage courses in gereral, and
particularly the identification of river or stream con-
fluence situations where two or more drainages come to-
oether, providing access to both water ard food supplies of
both systems.

This survey has documented the recorded or published location of two
sites within a two mile radius of the Horeywell Dairy project area.
Although sites have been identified in the ogereral region of the
proposed project impact area, mone are known to exist within the project
area itself. No evidence, positive or negative, based on previous
survey work is available. It would be ineppropriate, however, to
characterize the Homeywell Farms Dairy project area as  without
prehistoric sensitivity, especially since a pond formerly existed within
the project area. A small urnamed stream ran off to the south of the
project  area draining the pond ultimately into Jamaica Bay. Contact
period evidence indicates that this stream was likely the location of
the village of Jamaica. The location given by Parker is also along this
stream course approximately 1.1 miles southeast of the project area.

This source of fresh water, although o longer evident, may have besn
utilized by prehistoric inhabitants of this region. The project area
contains some relatively elevated soils situated from thirty to thirty-
five feet above mean sea level formerly adjacent to the stream. The
existence of this well-drained and elevated lard with easy access to
fresh water within the project area, combined with the knowledge of the
two prehistoric sites in the vicinity as well as Contact Period refer-
ences to occupation in this region, indicates that at least part of the
Horeywell Farms Dairy project area may preserve evidence of prehistoric
occupat ion.



1.4 HISTORIC SENSITIVITY

As  part of the property evaluation process, this historic sensitivity
study has surveyed published and unpublished sources  located at the
library of the New-York Historical Society and the New York Public
Library®s Main Research Branch, Local History and Gerealogy, ard Map
Divisions in Manhattan. Resources housed at the Long Island Division of
the usens Borough Public Library ard at the Topographical Bureau,
Borough Hall in Queens, were also surveyed.

The Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries

The Honeywell Farms study area is situated within South Jamaica, Reens,
New York., Jamaica, ore of the earliest towns founded on Long Islard,
wags FTirst settled by twenty-four Englishmen from Hempstead, who pur-
chased the land from the Canarsee and Rockaway tribes "at the cost of
two guns, a coat, and a certain cquantity of powder and lead" (Peyer
1974:15). The founders of Jamaica petitioned Governor Peter Stuyvesant
on March 10, 14546, to be recognized as owrers of the land purchased from
the Indians. On March 21, 1656 right to establish a new village was
granted, with the same privileges and exemptions which the inhabitants
of New Netherlands enjoved.

Long Island’s original towns were founded by dissatisfied New Englarnders
for a variety of reasons. As in the case of reighborira towns, Jamairca
was a product of New Emgland’s dispersal and the determining factors
which led to its settlement were constituted, in varying deagrees, by
"The Puritans’ sense of comunity, their cquest for religious and
political autonomy, and search for more and better land" (op. cit:l).
In their petition to Governor Stuyvesant Jamaica’s first settlers did,
hawever, stress their need for lard and material bettermert rather than
for religious freedom. Furthermore, the fact that the town church was
not established until 1462, sugogests that Jamaica’s fourders were
motivated less by religious zeal than by land hunger (see cp. cit.:14-
16). Stuyvesant's original patent was rerewed several times during the
colonial period, and in 1660 the Governor conferred on it the name of
Rustdorp.

The arganization of Jamaica and other Long Island towns followed the
pattern set by New England towns. Once a patent waes procured the
proprietors went on to divide and grant land and to form a govermment.
Jamaica's twenty—four proprietors origimally divided the town intp
cuarters and assigned each person a home lot of six acres at the town's
center. During the two years following the first land patent several
rewcomere purchased lots from the originmal settlers ard further
divisions and distributions of lands oocurred, sq that each man
"obtained a house and lot within the stockade, a plantation for farming,
a wond lot for fuel, and a salt meadow lot for hay for his horses and



cattle” (Hazelton 1925 VI:957).

Innes® 19082 depiction of “0ld Jamaica Village,” presented heve as Ficure
3, delimreates the early town’s main arteries and the ouarters within
which the community’s residential, religious and political life was
centered.  0On the 1908 map the Homeywell Farms development project area
is located Just southwest of the early village's rucleus, within the
area shown to be covered by Beaver Pord (depicted in a simplified style
on Figure 3). Although Innes’® 1908 map of 0ld Jamaica Village does mot
represent  an  accurate plan, but rather a rudimentary sketch of the
town's center, it provides one with a basically correct understanding of
the village'’s layout during the early historic period. A comparison of
this sketch with other cartographic sources examined sugoests that the
dosble dotted line marking the southern boundaries of the parsonage 1ot
and the village burial ground on the 1908 map corresponds to the later
route of Church Street (present day 158th Street ), the project area’s
mrtheastern boundary (see Figures 3-4).  The town’s main arteries
depicted on Innes’® map persist throughout the historical perind and are
precently  incorporated within modern Jamaica’s far more  intricate and
developed road retwork.

after the surrender to the English in 1664, land purchases from the
indians became subject to the Duke’s Laws. On February 15, 1644, Ri-
chard Nicolls, the first English governor, issued another patent which
rvecognized the town and its bourndaries, For the purposes of civil
administration the towns of Jamaica, Hempstead, Newtown and Flushing
were organized into what was known as the North Riding of Yorkshire (in
analogy to the civil divisions bearing the same name in Yorkshire,
Emland). A sessions bouse for judicial and administrative business and
a onal were built in Jamaica in 1667. As the "Shiretown" or county
seat, Jamaica became the center of administrative and judicial govern-
ment and the most active town in the North Riding of Yorkshire (Pever
1974:53). By the act of November 1, 1483 the towns making up the North
Riding of Yorkshire, together with the eastern town of Oyster Bay, were
united to form Queens County with its courtbouse and other county build-
irge located in Jamaica. This organization persisted until after the
Revnlution.

buring the colonial period Jamaica developed an active ard complex
economy .  Jamaica's proximity to Manhattan Island and its cornseguent
contacts with New aAmsterdam and later New York City fostered the
cevelooment of commercial agriculture and "made flour milling, barrel
making, and stock raising impartant industries” (op. cit.:120). During
the last years of the century and thvroughout the eighteenth century
Jamaica’s exports to New York City became an important comporent of that
city’s trade with both the British West Indies ard the North American
provirces. Jamaica's ecoromic growth found its basis, however, with the
natural advantages which favored Long Island: abundant land and good
soil. A Brief Description of New York, written by Daniel Denton, ore of
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Jamaica’s original settlers, and published in 1670, praises the pro-
vince’s agricultural advantages. ODOenton likens the area to a  “terres-
trial Carsan ..., where the land floweth with milk and horey” and states
its attraction as fol lows:

Here any one may furnish himself with land, and live

rent—fres, yea, with such quantity of land, that Ie

may weary himself with walking over his figlds of

corn, and all sorts of grain; and let his stock of

cattel amount to some hundreds, he reeds not  fear

their want of pasture in the summer, or foodder in the

winter, the Whods affording sufficient supply (Peyer

1974:2 and 121).
Jamaica’s position as county seat contributed further to the town’s
economic  ard social complexity and stimulated the revelopment there of
an act ive urban envirorment.

The early development and success of commercial agriculture in Queens
County was "the product of rich soil, the availability of land, and good
transportation facilities” (op. ©it.:134). Present day Jamaica Averue
follows the voute of an Indian trail (Mechawanienk) which, during the
early colonial period, became the Ferry Road. The distance betwesn New
York City and Jamaica along this Road is only twelve miles. In 1704
Goverror  Cormburg appointed a comission which laid out the Kim's
Higlway, built along the two lires of the Ferry Road, ore leading to
Jamajca amel the other to Flatbush and Flatlands (Armbruster 1919:9).
Muring the 1740°s this main road became the Jamaica and Brooklyn Plank
Road. Jamaica was linked to Manhattan Islarnd by this early road arel by
the ferry at Brooklyn, which was already in existence during Peter
Stuyvesant 's governorship. Although people were also allowed ta tran-
st goods by way of their own boats, the ferry from New York City to
lorg Island bad become a "corsiderable thoroughfare" as early as the
1670s (Peyer 1974:139).

Churches were established in Jamaica shortly after its settlement. The
First Presbyterian Church of Jamaica was organized in 1462, amd is the
oldest Presbyterian church in the United States. The first building,
which also housed town assemblies and other features of civic life, “is
=aid to have been built of loge and to have stood on the east =ide of
Beaver Pond" (Hazelton 1925 I1: 970). In 1692 a stone building was
erected in the middle of the Ferry Road (Jamaica Averue), and in 1814, a
new structure was constructed just north of the site of the 1699 church
(see nos. 12 ard 13 on Figure 3). The Dutch Reformed Church was fourcled
in 1495, and the Grace Episcopal Church in 1701 (see nos. S and 7 on
Figure 3). For a more detailed historical narrative of Jamaica’s early
churches see Hazelton 1925, volume 11, pp. 958-976.

As noted above, the Honeywell Farms project area was located  just
own'sS parsorage Iot. This 1ot was reserver] Dy Lihes
town’s first settlers and a parsonage was built on it in or about 1642.




The: ea'rliest Firs €
PUrpOses, 1nr-1nd1m the tou 5 ‘ _,
On Nowembery 5, 188 the town am:loyed a John WBscoE "EO ferce the
Burying place 10 vods sauare with a sufficient fire—rail fence,” promis-
ity "him 4 pounds in current pay for his pains and labor™ (Murs=ll
1882:221). In 1670 William Brinkley was granted a lot on the west side
af the cemetery ("leaving & passageway between his fence and Beaver
Ponc” ) and entrusted with the grounds® upkeep (ibid.). For a period of
time the town burial ground became the focus of discord between the
Prestyterians and and the less mumerous Epistopalians, Lord TCornburg
confiscatirg it for the use of the latter (Kelley 1908:35). In 1704 the
Rev. Mr., Hubbard was driven out and the Rev. William Uraubart, “the
rewly  appointed Episcopalian incumbent, although violently opposed by
the townspeople, held it until 1710° (ibid.). The burial ground then
reverted to the Presbyterians through the marriage of a Presbyterian
thenlogical student to the daughter of Urauhart’s widiw, and was held by
H*ﬁn Uﬁtll 1813, when it was sold. ,__A,_lﬁt._ nireteenth gentury literary

: : the o st one ihle 1néa. 190921 Thomas

alton, who disdtn
:l‘ohn Pierson, whn died

Marrh 1_7‘?77 ag_erl "15: nnrl anh!-b ) m_fe of .Rev =
October 19, 17467, adged &7 (M.msell 1882:221 ).

In 1857 Nicholas Ludlum of New York bough three acres of land east of
the old hurying ground and had the "Chapel of the Sisters" built at his
wn  expense, in memory of his daughters. Built of ‘brown and gray
store, (it) forms the entrance to the cemetery” and was used for fureral
services (op.cit.:222).” The cemetery was incorporated in 1879 under the
name_of Procpect Cemetery.  Walks and burial Iofs were laid oot and the
grogvds  (about eight acres) beautified (ibid.). 1In 1830, four years
after a rew, Methodist Church was built, the MPth:x:hsts esta—
blished their own burying ground. The graves of memberg gf
Methodist  Sceiety ; oand were  then
"the trustees accepted the r.:rrl of C.A. Yerington to move the grave.:'
from the old burying ground for $1.75 each” (Hazelton 1925 VI:964). The
mrwtepnth century sources examiresd show the ald burying ground ard, the
- and larger Prospect Cemetery, to the project area’s nortleast.

As Jamaica’s population increased the origimal four cuarters or sections
of the town were extended. Not all families lived in this centrally
located area and early deede and wills rote the sale of a few home lots
at Beaver Pond (Pever 1974:189). Two deeds dated as early as 1748 and
1769 refer to the transfer of properties near Beaver Pord (op.
cit.:188). A good view of Beaver Pond could apparently add to the
appeal of properties purchased rmear it. A plantation advertised for
saler in 1740 is described as "having the beautiful prospect of a large
pord before the door called Beaver Pord," a factor which undoubtedly
contributed to the opinion that this plantation was "a wvery @uitable
place for a gentleman” (Onderdonk 1865:32).



Beaver Pond’s real fame was, however, derived less from its noted na-
tural besuty than from the racetrack that ran around it. According to
one  literary source, "horse racing really was the first industry of
Mueens County and its meets were long the most famous in the country®
(Roms 1902:524). The first race course in Queens County was estahlished
on Salisbury plains. In 1665 Governor Nicolls appointed .a borse race to
take place in Hempstead, "not so much for the divertisement of youths as
for ercouraging the bettering of the breed of horses, which throogh
rmreglect have been impaired™ (as cited in Muresll 1882:57). In circa
1449, Goverrmor Lowelace also appointed by proclamation that trials of
speed  ghould take place each year in the month of May, and that sub—
soription be taken and sent to Captain Salisbury "of all such as were
dismoserd to vun for a crown of silver or the value theveof in wheat®
(ibid.). fueen County’s tracks brought crowds to their ‘“events” ard
zwelled the fame which the county enjoved - enjoyed even in Ergland - as
the headouarters of horse-racing in Arerica.

The Beaver Pond race course was a mile in length. Unfortumately, the
date of its first establishwent is apparently unknown. However, its
establistwent dates prior to 1757, for on June 13th of that year, the
New York subscription plate was vun for there and won by Lewis Morris
Juninr?s herse  "American Childers." Races were beld at Beaver Pord,
yearly in the spring ard autumn until or after the close of the
eighteenth century (Munsell 1892:58). Tarlor’s 1782 map depicts Beaver
Pord ard the stream comecting it with Jamaica Bay (see F1g.zr9 4. The
Pard  is shown to have extended from a point near the junction of Beaver
Street  and present day 158th Street to South Road. Beaver Strest and
present day 150th Street roughly bounded the Pord westerly armd north-
westerly, and the route of present day 158th Street apparently paral-
leled the pond’s northeastern limits which, as suggested by the 1782
map, was formed by a beaver dam (Figure 4) The 1782 map does ot
indicate the dourse of the Beaver Pond rvacetrack and it is unfortunate
that rore of the early cartographic sources examined attést to this
aspect of Jamaica's early history.

In Jamaica, as in other portions of Cueens County, the Tory feeling was
ciominant during the Revolutiomary struggle. The only military action
within the present limits of Queens during the aAmerican Rewvolution
inmived  troops under the command of Gereral Nathaniel Woodiull, less
than two hurdred in all, “whose task was to destroy crops and drive of f
cattle in the face of the British advarce in fugust 1776" (MacMaster
1961:1). Beneral Woodhull and his men kept their position on the John
Polhemie Farm on Eldert’s Lane, near modern Woodhaven Boulevard on the
right of August 27th, failing to come to the aid of Washington, while
lges than two miles away "10,000 British regulars ,.. . completed the
night march that left Washington survounded and facing certain defeat at
the Rattle of Long Island” (ibid.). Woodhull and his trooos fell back
to Jamaica that same day. Woodhull was taken prisoner by the British on



August 28, 1776 about twa miles east of Jamaica. Ouring the following
few days Sir William Erskine, with his 71st Fraser Highlanders and the
17th Light Dragoons, made Jamaica his headausrters.

After 1777 the main British forces tended to winter on Long Island or
New York and Gereral Delarncey, comarding three battalions of Loyalists,
chiose to make Jamaica his headuarters (op. cit.:4). Many of Jamzica’s
farmhouses, barns amd churches served as barracks for these troops.
Headguarters  for British Gremadiers and Hessian Jagers and Grenadiers
ware maintaired at Jamaica during 1780 and 1781 and the hill in Jamaica
alomg  which Highland Avenue runs became "dotted with the huts ard  can-
Lopments  of British troope” (jbid.). Taylov’s 1782 map depicts these
hit=, located approximately half a mile north of the project area as
w=l]l as others, located approximately three duarters of 6 mile northeast
of the project area. Most of the Rewolutiocnary landmarks of Jamaica
havwe long been cbliterated. A marble marker at 150th Street and High-
lardd Avenue describes the site as that of a vifle pit. This iz an
erroneous  description ag this site, wncovered by a construction worker
in the 1920s, actually marks that of one of the huts vreferved to sbove
(op. cit.: 4).

The Nirgteenth and Early Twentieth Centuries

In 1814 Jamaica, then with a population of 1500, became an incorporated
village. The mklyn ard Jamaica Railroad was opered in 1835 and after
1841, the year in which the Long Islard Railvoad terminus shifted from
Brooklyn to Long Island City, Jamaica became the railvoad center of Long
Islard (Hazelton 1925 [1:976). The earliest reliable nireteenth century
cartographic source, the 1837 U.S. Coast Survey, shows the route of the
Long Island Railroad rumning through Jamaica just morth of the project
area., The 1837 survey depicts the area once tovered by Beaver Pond as a
laroe: marshy area, suggesting that a gradual draining of the pord had
began during the early part of the century, prior tn the survey's date
(see Figure 5). It is difficult to determine when this drainegs process
may have begun as a local historian writing in the 1870s suggests that
thr-'- pand was “overgrown with shrubs and bushes" by the late eightesth

century (Onderdonk 1874:50). This author motes, while describira a late
Plghtepn‘rh century property near Beaver Pond, that a view of the pord
was "more attractive than now" and that the pond “wag a regort of birds
and wild fowl” (ibid.). aAlthough the evidence upon which this descrip-
tion of the pord’s late eighteenth century condition is based is not
offered, ore can assume that by 1876 the area once covered by Beaver
Pord had become somewhat “unattractive.”

The Brooklyn, Jamaica and Flatbush Turnpike was incorporated on
March 17, 1909, and it laid its turnpike upon the two main brarnches of
the Kirgs Highway (Armbruster 1919:13). As roted above, these two were
old Dutch voads, originally constructed by the Dutch authorities alorng



the Indian trails. In 1855 the Brooklyn and Jamaica Plank Road Company
was chartered and the old turrpike (modern day Jamaica Avenue) was taken
over and made a plank road. In 1864 the Jamaica and East New York Horse
Car Company , was charteved and it built a horse car line from Jamaica to
Easl New York "on the Plank Road where it conrected with the horse car
lire on Fulton Avenue arnd Broadway in East New York” (Jamaica Board of
Trark: 1919:58), Later nireteenth century cartographic sources examined
designater] this road Fulton Street and/or Jamaica Road or Plank Road.
At the turn of the century, this major thoroughfare was still krown as
Fulton Street, but by 1916 it had acouired its present appellation,
Jamaica MAvernue (1914 Section 128 of the Final Maps of the Borough of
Queens). The Borough of Dueens of the City of New York was formed on
Jaruary 1, 1898, from the former towrships of Newtown, Flushing ard
Jamaica, together with Long Island City and a small portion of the town
of Hempstead, embracing the Far Rockaway and Rockaway Beach district of
that town (Kelley 1908:5).

&2 the town beécame more and more populous common lands naturally became
less. Throughout the first half of the nireteenth century measures wers
taken by the town to dispose of these lands through sale. In 1854,
Beaver Porvd, "which was the last of the public lareks owned by the town,
wae sold  in emall parcels” (Munsell 1882:195). An 1842 map of the
Villag: of Jamaica cesignates the area that had besn covered by Beaver
Pocd "Public Souare” and indicates that it was covered by marsh or grass
{eee Figire 6). The 1842 map does not show any paths intersecting the
soare wWithin which the Horeywell Farms project area lay, amd depicts
only ore emall structure, to the project area’s morth, designated "the
Pourd,” The 1782 map referred to above also depicts a structure at this
approximate  location (see Figure 4). The umdeweloped character of
Reaver Pond and of the public space there later would seem an
sppropriate site for an animal pound. Townspeople apparently fell the
reed  for such a structure early on as in 1786 it was roted at a town
meeting “that no hogs shall run at large in this town, and if catched at
ary time in any inclosure shall be liable to be pounded, and the owner
or mner)s of such hogs to pay the damage™ (as cited in Munsell
1882:197 ).

A "Map of Land belonging to the Town of Jamaica commonly called 'The
Beaver Pond’,” filed at the county clerks office September 15, 1854 (ro.
142), shows the earliest lot divisions to be made within the area shown
as a public souare on the 1842 map noted above (Figwres 6 and 7).
although the 1854 map depicts Water and Catharire Streets traversing the
town’s property  these streets had probably been only proposed at  this
paint  in time. Walling’s 1859 map of Jamaica Village shows Catherine
Strest (present day Liberty avenue) but does rot show Water Street
(present day Tuckerton Road) (see Figure 8).  According to the evidence
provided by the 1859 map, a total of nire structures had been built
within the previously publicly owned property between 1854 and 1859.
One of the structures, located aleng the mortherly side of Catherine

10



' .

il 2*7 BN Nt SRR D
1l A ".J AS LT SR Vo & it .. Vo o h
W,\.,\c lll! .q;a.{:,_gn},jkhm B A ‘,f/,//, !'7//@ f ’f‘/f,-J‘\ P .ﬂ"ﬂ‘\‘:\ | o ..ﬂ:- A, ‘Q\\A Sy 3 mlﬂ!““)\ 5% n,:, .-s LLvioa “N,“”;“i
. 7 JM \ AR ““\ "' ‘7!:’-? l'l“w“‘ /‘."' ““\'\““ 0y e
. i ' 0o T
NN \"\"“\“ gl

N
mﬂ#&u fﬁf' N
TN :ﬂ'.!"‘ - g, l}“ll ‘\J"’Iuhﬁ mm- ‘ol

N g fﬂ]!‘ l;l ,‘.f[r_l ql]“ f;— Prbar i

,r

.‘ - 4 i /
9 L ‘-::'4// {ﬂw b‘?}% )I/
3 o f

“th)
o t'; Z'a- A

(AL

ll“f:lgl fliss

.
|
-h:
. AT
C e pshon’y

~ Y

« e
-

_MAP NOT TO SCALE

Pigure 5: From the 1837 U.S8, Coast Survey Map of the Interior of
Long Island from Brooklyn to Jamaica, New York.
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Figure 6: From Johnson's 1842 Map of the Village of Jamaica, Queens
County, Long Island.
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Figure 12: From an 1895 Bird's Eye View of Jamaica, Long Island, New
York. Published by D.L. Hardenbrook.
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Street appe=ars to have been located within ore of the parcels comprising
the Horeywell Farms project area (Figure 8). No structures are shown
within the project area®s three other parcels.

To facilitate a description of the character and changes which took
place within the lands covered by the project area indicated by later
nireteenth  and early twentieth century cartographic sources, the four
parcels comprising  the project area will hersafter be referved to by
rumber . The project area’s southerrnmost parcel, bound southerly by
Guinzburg rroad and easterly by Tuckerton Road will be referred to as
parcel 1. The remaining three parcels will be referved to as parcels 2,
3 and 4 in covregspordence to their locations from west to east.

conklin’s 1748 Atlas of Jamaica indicates that the Int divisions datirg
tn the 1854 sale had changed little, moting further subdivisiors only in
what is marked on these maps as lot 2 (see Figures 7 ard 9).  The 1248
atlas is the earliest of the cartographic sources examined to provide
cwrership information regarding the properties under study. Parcel 1 is
shown to lie within two undeveloped lots designated the Estate of the L.
Reeve, deceased. An examination of several directories and census
records  dating between 1850 and 1870 did mot reveal a listing for a L.
Rerve. However, a 184971870 Directory of Long Island does list (within
its resicdential section) a Judith Reeves, widow of Lawrence, residing at

Fulton Street (Jamaica Averue) rear Grand Street (Curtin 1849:271).

Mrs. Reeves (or Reeve) had apparently sold what had been ber  husband’s
estate hy 1870,

In fact, by 1870 the property had been subdivided into several smaller
lots and was cwned by a Jeremiah Jobnson, Jr. Parcel 1t of the Horeywell
Farm project area is shown contained within the lots descoribed on a "Map
of Property at Jamaica, Long Island owned by Jeremizh Johnson Jr.
allotted July 1870," filed at the County Clerks Office August 23, 1870
(. &57). The 1870 property map is the earliest to show Guinzburg
Avernie, which is  ircluded within the southern portion of Parcel 1.
Jolhmson’s 1870 property is shown to comprise mot only the two lots
previously owred by Lawrence Reeve (Reeves), but also approximately half
of the lot which is shown on the 1868 atlas as adjoining Reswve’s
property, marked there as lot ro. 6 and owned by Isaac B. Remsen (Figure
?).

Parcel 2 is shown on the 1848 atlas as covering approximately one half

of a lot owned by a M.I. Bryant. No structures are depicted within this
lot (Figure 9). On the 1848 atlas, parcel 3 is shown to cover portions
of two lots. The more westerly of the two (here lot 23) is shown vacant
and urdesignated, while the other (lot 24) is shown to be the property
of a Benjamin Simmons.  Three structures are depicted within this lot;
the two shown located near the northern side of Catherine Street are
located within Parcel 3, as is a southeastern portion of the third,
northermmost structure (Figure 9). The larger, more easterly of the two

11



°

structtres shown located along Catherine Street within Parcel 3 on the
1848 atlas appears to correspond approximately in location to that moted
abcve on the 1859 Walling map as the earliest documented structure btuilt
within the project area (see Fioure 8).

The 1262 atlas does not show any structures within the area covered by
Parcal 4, Parcel 4 is shown here to be comprised of portions of three
lote (here, rumbers 24, 25, and 26);  lot 26 is designated Iseac B.
Remoeny (Figure 9). Although adjoining lot rumbers 25 and 272 are mt
decignated bere it seems probable that these were also owred by Remsen
by 1849, In fact, the depiction of lots within the project area ard its
immediate vicinity supplied by Conklin®s 1842 atlas may actually repre—
ment 1ot information that had been superseded by that date. Although
the 1248 atlas depicts the then rew railroad branch rurning alomg what
was then Sutphin Place and its northerly extension to Beaver Strest, it
fails to show any of the changes in the 1854 lot boundaries that would
have recessarily resulted from the railvoad’s vight of way (Fiowrs 9).
The 1948 atlas depicts three structures within what it shows as 1ot 25.
The largest of Lhese structures appears to have Deen located Jjust south
of Parcel 4, arvd a portion of it either adjoired or lay within the
parcel . - :

Beerse® 1872 map of Jamaica Village shows the lot divisions within Parcel
1 as they are depicted on the 1870 map of property by Jeremiah
Johrnson Jr., referved to above. Parcel 1 is shown tere to consist of a
sect ion of Guinzburg Averus, eleven full lots and portions of six other
lots., The 1873 map doss mot depict any structures within Parcel 1 (o=
Ficoure 10). The other lots within which the project aréa’s vemaining
three parcels are located appear on the 1873 map much as desoribed above
on the 1848 atlaz, except for the rew lot boundaries created by the
"South Side Railvoad” branch’s right of way, which had been omitted by
the erarlier atlas.

Property owrership within the project area’s parcels 2, 3 arnd 4 does ot
appear to have changed between 1848 ard 1873, The 1873 map shows parcel
2 to=till form part of an undevelcoped 1ot owned by ML, Bryant (Fioure
10), Although the 18483 atlas Tails to designate all of the lIots it
depicts as comprising parcels 3 and 4, the property designatiorns  pro—
vided by the 1873 map most probably refer to titles established by 1248
or earlier. Aside from what is marked here as lot 24 and desigrnated
Benjamin Simmons, the remainder of the area bound by Water Street  (Tu-
kerton Road), Catherire Street (Liberty Averwe) and Church (158th)
Street  (arc traversed by the railroad branch) is shown to be owred by
Isaac B. Remsen on the 1873 map (see Figure 10). Parcel 3 is therefore
shown covering portions of lot 23 (owned by Remsen) and of the lot owned
by Simmons. The 1873 map depicts two structures within Simmons*®  1ot,
suggest ing that a third structure, roted above as located within parcel
2 on the 1868 atlas had been demclished by 1872 (see Figures 9 and 10).
Dre of the two structures shown located just nmorth of the morth side of

12



Catterine Street was also noted on bath the 1852 Walling map and the
1868 atlaz. The lot's other building, also noted on the 1243 atlas,

appeara located within parcel 2 on the 1872 map.  Due to the degree of

imeccuracy inkerent in these nireteenth century cartographic sources it
is difficult to determine this structure’s exact location. Although tle
1262 atlas and the 1873 map do not provide a conourring cescripbion of
this structure’s location, one can mretheless assume that the struclure
did lie, wa-i:hPr wihnally or only partially, within parcel 2's rorthesst
correr. The 1873 map shows parcel 4 covering portions of two lots cwned
by Remeen, Two of the three structures roted on the 1868 atlas as
located to parcel 4’s south appear to have been demolished by 1873, as
the 1872 map shows only ore of these structures, located rmear Lhe morthe
east vorrer of Catherine Street and Sutphin Place (see Figure 10).

Sowex time between 1873 and 1891 Isaac B. Remsen purchased several other
properties, including those shown as owned by ML, Bryant and Benjamin
Simmoiz on the 1848 atlas and 1873 map referred to above. Remsen
arcuired these properties so that he could use a povtion of the former
site of Beaver Pond as that of an ice pond. Wolverton’s 1821 map of
Jamaica Village depicts "I.B., Remsen’s Ice Pond" as well as the
structures reeded for ice production and storage (see Fiowre 11). A
illustrated by the 1891 map, Guinzburg Place had been extended), so that
it ran alorg the pond’s southern edge and then led vorth to goin Ehe
eastern section of Catherine Street, providing an alternate yrute
between Rockaway Turmpike (150th Strest ) ard Sutphin Place (157th
Street ) (Figure 11).

Wolverton’s 1871 map shows that the eastern half of Pareel 1 then
romperised a part of the area covered by Remsen’s ice pond. The 1291 map
marks only oe change regarding the lots covered by Parcsl 1, west of
the pordd. The parcel’s two southermmost lots, shown fronting Rockawsy
Tarrpike on the 1870 and 1873 maps noted above are shown to have been
Joired to  form ore, larger lot ard to contain a structure by 1821
{Figure 11). The 1821 map shows that most of parcel 2 and the western
half of Parcel 3 lay within areas covered by the ice pond. The eastern
pr_lrtin:m of parcel 2 is shown here within a 1 174 acre lot desigrated

. Remsen. The ice house and other structures related to the industry
w-'=rr= located within this portion of Remsen’s property. O of these
buildings and portions of two others (including the ice house) appear
located within parcel 3 on the 1821 map. Although the more easterly of
the two structures shown bere on the rarth side of Catherire Street,
appears only partially located within parcel 3, given the often auite
aporoximate  locatiomal information provided by the nimeteenth century
cartographic sources, it seems safe to assume that it actually vepre-
sents  the same structure noted above on maps dating between 1859 and
1872 (see Figures 8-11). The 1891 map does mot depict any structures
within parcel 4. A& southern portion of the parcel is shown to lie
within a ore acre lot designated S. Ryder. Several structures including
a series of row houses fronting Catherine Street, are shown within this

13



1not, south of parcel 4.

an 1995 bird’s eye view of Jamaica provides an interesting portrayal of
the project area and its gerneral locality (see Figure 12). Unfortunate-
ly, this depiction canmot be considered a totally accurate representa-
tion of the area, as it termds o both exaggerate and omit  information,
The wview illustrates what it refers to as "Remsen’s Lake" and depicts
gome of the structures moted on maps discussed asbhove., The structure
moted  above as located within parcel 1 on the 1891 map is shown here as
a three-story building. Just northeast of this building, a4 smaller
structure is shown, apparently located at the southwest eddge of the
pond. Az neither the earlier nor later cartograchic sources examirved
show @ structire at this location and, as West Catherine Streesl is ot
clearly indicated an the 1895 bird’s eye view, it is probable that this
structure was actually located outside parcel 1, to its rerth.

In regards to the project area'’s three vemaining parcels the 1895 picto—
rial view mtes the existerce of structures anly within parce]l 2. A
buildiveg  is shown Fronting Catherime Street, of two or  two-and-a-half
stories. This would appear to probably represent the stvucture  noterdd
within parcel 3 on early cartographic sources (Figures 8-12).,  Twa o
three other structures are also depicted within parcel 3 on the 1895
view. Theoe structures are not clearly defined and their depiction  is
difficult to read, though they do rot appear to represent the structures
depicted within this Iot on the 1821 atlas, described above. Two large

structures are shown to the north of parcel 1, presumably representing

Remsen's ice houses (Ficure 12).

In 1898 a survey was made of the lots owned by Issac B. Remsen, indicat-—
irg that he had at that time decided to sell of f parts of his property
srrounding the Pond that were not reeded in his ice procduction andd
storage operations (see Figure 13). The 1898 survey of lots belonging
to Isaac Remsen, filed at the County Clerk’s Office Jure 24, 1899 (m.
444), shows that Remsen then owred several properties along Beaver
Strest, Rockaway Road (150th Street ), Church Street (158th Street ) and
the easterly extension of Guinzburg Place. Parcel 1 is shown to be
still cwred, in part, by Johneon., The 1898 survey depicts structures
within and to the morth of parcel 3 (Figure 13). The two structures
shown  to the morth of Parcel 3 appear to represent the large ioe houses

depicted on the 1895 hird’s eye view roted above. The 1898 survey

depicte four  structures within Parcel 3. Three of these are  located
within the parcel’s mortheastern portion and probably represent sheds
ard offices. The structure shown fronting Catherine Street wauld appear
to represent the structure noted within parcel 3 on earlier maps and
built some time between 1854 and 1859. The 1898 survey does not depict
structures within the project area’s othsr parcels. The absrece of such
structural information is, in the case of this property map, not consi-
dered regative evidence as the depiction of areas covered by parcels 2
ardd 4 intercked here to illustrate their subdivision into lots for sale
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anct ot concerned with the representation of structures within them. As
the portion of parcel 1 which lay to the pord’s west did rot form part
af Remsen®s property, the property map was casually unconcerred with the
depiction of lots and structures within it.

_Tha" early twentieth century cartographic sources examired shw  that

Remzen’s Ice Pord was filled some time betwesn 1907 and 1909 (Fiagures 14

and 15). Hyde’s 1907 Atlas of the Borough of Gueens depicts Remeen’s
Pond amd shows that the operations there were then run by the
"Cryenlidated Ice Company” (Figure 14).  Bromley’s 19092 Atlas indicates
that the pond had been filled by that date (Figure 15). Cartographic
souroRs  datirg between 1907 and 1912 indicate that the early structure
moted as located within parcel 3 on earlier maps and atlases, resr Lhe

marth =ide of Catherine Strest, remained standing during that period.

This ‘structure, possibly built cduring the late 1850s, was sppavently
clemalisher some time between 1913 and 1925, as it is mot depicted on the
1925 Sarbxrn Insurance Maps of Dueens., Other stroctures shown within
aredd rear to parcel 3 on these early twentisth century  cartoaraphic

soUrCRs  appear to have been frame structures serving the storage  and
office needs of the ice companies, built during the 18908 and later.

At lases depicting Jamaica between 1907 and 1913 show that durirg this
period lots comorising parcels 1 and 4 became more developed, Lot
divisionz within these parcels were redefined and several structures
built within them (see Figures 14 and 15).  The structure moted within

- parce]l 1 on Wolverton’s 1891 map and the 1895 hird’s eye view is alen

shown  on thess early twentieth century atlases.  On the Hyde 1907 and
1913 atlases this structure is shown Lo contain two stores fronting
Rockaway Turnpike (150th Street). Lot divisions and building within

parce] 2 does ot appear to have occurred until after 1925,

Section 128 of the "Final Maps of the Borough of Queers” (1914 ) show the
mockern  day lay out of strests which bound the project area (see Fioure
14). It illustrates the widening of Catherire Street (Liberty Averue)
and the construction of Blakely Street (157th  Street ). The
topographical information provided by this map is of partioular
interest, as it gives us an indication of the extents of both the
"HBeaver Ponrd” of colonial days as well as of Remsen®s late ninetesnth
cerntury pond.  The twenty foot contour lire sppears to follow the

aporoximale edoe of Remsen’s Pond, while tte twenty—Tive foor contour

lire that of the old Beaver Pord. Filling nrecessitated by street
wicknirngs and the railvoad bed built along the eastern side of what s
now 157th Street is a factor which must also be taken into comsideration
and this slightly limits the reconstruction of the original dimensions
of these two bodies of water as irdicated by the 1916 map (see Figure
16).

In an attempt to learn more about the persons moted as property owners
of  the lands comprising the Horeywell Farms development project area on
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the nireteenth century maps and atlases discussed  abonve, some cereus
recovrds  ardd divectories of Jamaica were examired.  For the most  part,
this =earch proved to be of limited value. The 1890 Cersus of Queens
Courty, New York does ot show listings for any of the names which
appear on cartographic sources dating between 1848 and 1891, An examin-
ation of the nirgteenth century census recorcs cererally prived to be
ton  time-consuming and confusing to be useful in thizs instarce.  As
these cemsus records do not provide addresses for the individuals list-
ecd, but procesd in an unknown order of visitation, even if, after scan-
rnirg honchrends of pages of listings, ore does find a name corrvesponding
ko the last name and Tirst initial of a person roted as a property cwner
within the project area it is met always possible to determire wiwther
the listing does in Fact relate to the person under study. For example,
the 1890 cersus population schedules for Jamaica lists two persons by
the name’nf Stephen Ryder, one a sixty-two year old "Dealer in Hides"; a
listing is also provided for a Sarah Ryder, a Lhirty-seven year old
usekeeper . Without indications of residential or busiress addresces,
it is ot possible to determine which of these Ryders, if any, may
represent  the S, Ryder shown as owning a portion of parcel 4 in 1891
{Figure 11).

Directories of Jamaica, often including residential divectories, proved
to be of more use in this search. Trow’s 1898 Busiress and Residential
Directory of the Borough of Queens lists a Stephen Ryder, clerk,
resident at 98 Union Hall Street (Trow 1898:75). Morris' 1921 dirvectory
also lists Stephen Ryder at the same address and as retired (Morris
1921:202). Although these referernces post—date the 1891 cartographic
reference to S. Ryder, it is likely that they relate to the same person,
A5 the 1998 mep of Remsen’s property (Fioure 13) indicates that property
cwrerd by Ryckr in 18921 had becoms that of Remsen the regidential adkiress
privided for Stephen Ryder in Lhe abovementioned direclories does ot in
iteell pose a probilem.

The directories examined, dating between 1848 and 1921, do not show any
listirgs for Jeremiah Johrson, Jr., moted above as ownimg lands within
and adjacent to parcel 1 (1870 property map, no. 4467 ard Figure 13).
Berjamin Simmons, wha is shown owning part of parcel 3 on maps datimg to
1PA8 anyl 1873, and M.I. Bryant, shown as the owner of lands covered by
parcel 2 on the same maps, are also note listed in the directories
surveved. Some evidence concerning the widow of L. (Lawrernce) Reeve(s ),
whose hostarnd had owned lands within ard rear to parcel 1 prior o

. Johreon’s 1870 purchase of that property, and is discussed above.

The Remsen family in Jamaica was apparently an old and wvery rumerous
one, The family’s American progenitor in Jamaica was from Westphalia

arel several early references to members of this family date to the 1770s

(Ross 1902 1), A poll list, taken in November 1775, listing voters for
arvd against sending represeritative deputies to the Provineial Congress
includes twelve males of the Remsen family, all wotimg "mo deputy”
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(Calendar 1:180-184). James S. Remsen was a promirent member of this
family curim the mid- and late nireteenth century. Borm in 1815, he
was the owrer of a large and well known hotel who bad ten children by
Mary Seaman (Munsell 1882:251). Unfortunately, it has mot been poesible
to cetermine the reactions, if any, of the Isaac 8. Remeen, koown Lo
have wwred portions of the project area between 18468 arvd 1878, to tle
Remsens roterd above,

Curtin’®s 1848/6%9 ard 1869/70 directories list and Issac B. Remsen,
batcher on Fulton Avernue (Jamaica Avenue ), resident on Washington Street
(Curtin 1842:249; Curtin 1869:271). CQurtin’s 1870/71 directory suogoests
that Remsen had changed his profession, for be is listed here as a real
estate agent at the same business and residential adidresses roted] on the
two earlier directories (Curtin 1870:275). Boyd’s 1899/8% directory,
which «does mot provide residential town directories and list only Lomg
Island busiress, does.mot list Remsen, rmeither as real estate agent nor
as an ice cealer. In 1898, Isaac B. Remoen is listed in Jamaica’s
residential divectory as an ice dealer, with a businress addres=s at
Catherine Street near atlantic Averue and a residence at 50 Beroen
Averue (Trow 1898:75)., The 1898 husiness directory lists the Coresoli-
dated Ice Company under the category of “ice dealers,” with ils business
addres=z at Verron Avenues near Flushirg Avenue, Long Islared City are] at
Catherine Street, Jamaica (op. cit.:65). This would sugosst that Remsen
had, hy 1898, become a partner in the Consolidated Ice Company. Trow's
1212 amd Morris’® 1921/22 directories do not show any listings for Isaac
Remse=n or the Corsolidated Ice Company.

2,  THE FUMLRE WITHLT THE PROJECT

1f the Horeywsll Farms Dairy project is not constructed as  proposad,
then there will be no changes to the existing corditions of the project
area. If this option is chosen then it is anticipated that there will
b m impacts on any of the potential historical or archaenlogical
resources within or adjacent to the project area.

3.  FRIBABLE IMPACTS OF THE PROJECT
3.1 ANTICIPATED DISTURBANCE

The proposed Honeywell Farms Dairy development project in South Jamaica,
fueens County, New York consists of two phases. The four parcels
studies in detail above are all included in Phase I1. Phase I corsists
of the acauisation of seven lots along the east side of 150th Strest
between Guinzburg Road and South Road (Block 101125 Lots 42, 59, 40, 61,
&3, 64, and 65) for the purpose of exparding existing truck and employes
parkirg facilities. If the cormstruction of these parkimg lots is
limited to grading the existing surfaces in the seven lots followed by
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laying down gravel and asphalt, then the anticipated impacts will be
minimal. If the parking let corstruction irvolves the removal or
disturbarce of snil or debris below the existing surface, then it is
antizipated Lhat  impacts could occur to potential subsurface remains
within thece Ints.

Phase 11 comwists of the acauisation of 22 lots within four blocks
located alorg both sides iF Liberty averue between 150th and  153th
Strecsts {(Block 10107, Lots 137 and 1425 BRlock 10103, Lots 201, 305, 310,
312, 314, 314, amd 348; Block 10109, Lots 25, 31 and 44; Block 10110,
lots 1, 2, 3, 10, 12, 15, 19, 50, 52 and &80) as well as the demarping of
partions of Tuckerton Street and Guinzburg Road for the construction of
arew  four story parking garage, rew office facilities, a rmew truck
maintainance area, amnd mew truck storage. It is anticipated that all of
theee activities included in Phase 11 will impact potential subsurface
resources,. All of these propozed structures will recpive excavation or
otheruwise disturb subsurface deposits.

3.2 RECOMENDATIONS TO FIELD ASSESS CONDITIONS

The abowe section of text dealing with the existing conditions has
documented that the Horeywell Farms Bairy Development project area
mtentially may preserve archaenlogical evidence from the prehistoric
perixd.  This location is considered sersitive to the preservation of
prehictoric archaenlogical remains because it is topographically similar
tn several locations of documented prehistoric sites.  Two such sites
exist within a two mile radius of the project area, amd baoth are on
relatively elevated soils mear to present or former stream oourses, 3
v iplion  which characterizes the Horeywell Farms Dairy Development
site. Although o prehistoric artifacts have been reported from this
location, it is cur opinion that its physical condition would have been
conclicive to its use and/or oocoupation during prehistory.

The above text has  also documented that the Horeywell Farms Dadry
frroject  area was the site of several historic features particularly
during the 17th and 18th centuries., The Beaver Pond, the racetrack and
the FPublic Souare that survounded it, as well as parts of the first
chuarch and graveyard in Jamaica were all within or adjacent to the
project area. Evidence from these historic uses of this land may be
precerved bereath the present surface.

We recommend that a Phase IB archaeological survey be undertaken within
the project area to determine the presence or absence of any prehistoric
or historic archaenlogical site(s) that may be at this location., We
recommend that testing is recessary for all of the Horeywell Farms Dairy
Development  project  area that may be impacted by the  planned
construct ion and related activities, where such testing is possible.
This would be dore to test the entire tract for the presence of
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axriging] occupation, as well as early historic remains dating to the
17th  ard/or  18th centuries. Phase IR testing iz specifically
recommercdec]  for  the four parcels on Blocks 10107, 10108, 10109 ard
10110, prior to the begimning of the second phase of construction which
will impact these lots. Phase IB testing is also recommended for  the
twn lots on Block 10112 if the proposed construction of parking
Facilities there will include subsurface impacts. If thig iz the casse,
then it is recommencied that either subsurface testing be completed prior
to the prior to the beginning of the first phase of construction, or
that a professional  archeeologist monitor all of the subsurface
excavat ione associated with parking lot construction.
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PLATE H-1: View of Guinzburg Road looking northeast with project
area to the left and Tuckerton Road in the background.

. PLATE H-2: View of project area along the southeastern side of
Liberty Avenue west of Tuckerton Road, looking southeast.




PLATE H-3: View of project area parcels to the east and west of
Tuckerton Road along the northwestern side of Liberty
. Avenue, looking north northwest.

. PLATE H-4:

View of project area parcel south of 157th Street and
along the northwest side of Liberty Avenue, looking north.




PLATE H-5: View of project area parcel along southside of 158th Street
with Long Island Railroad trestle in background, looking
southwest.

PLATE H-6: View of probable 19th century structure outside of project
area on the northwest side of Liberty Avenue southwest of
Tuckerton Road, looking northwest.




PLATE H-7: View of two probable 19th century structures outside of

project area along the southwestern side of 158th Street
looking west.
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